I. INTRODUCTION 

Receivership proceedings work only if the parties in interest, the 

debtor in particular, are prevented from gaming the system and using it 

toward their own, self-serving purposes. The essential components in 

protecting the integrity of such a proceeding are: I) a disinterested 

administrator; 2) proper supervision by the court; and 3) fulfillment of the 

debtors' affirmative obligations. Only the first of these components was 

present in this case. 

The question at the heart of this appeal is, "Do the means matter?" 

Per and Melody Westerdal believe they do. The means are the mechanism 

by which courts protect their integrity and ensure that disputes are 

administered in accordance with the applicable statutory framework as 

well as settled principles of law and equity. The judiciary is constructed 

on means, and articulated in evidentiary and procedural rules in order to 

ensure that disputes are resolved justly and premised on truth. Process is 

important. 

The Court of Appeals, like the trial court, erred when it focused on 

the end over the means. In the face of serious allegations of misconduct, 

the trial court terminated the Receivership, and the Court of Appeals 

shirked its responsibility. 
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2. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS 

Petitioners, Per and Melody Westerdal,' claimants in the General 

Receivership, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' 

decision terminating review designated in Part 3. 

3. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Per and Melody seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision in 

Bero v. Name Intelligence, Inc.,_ Wn. App _, __ P.3d __ , 2016 

WL 3982897 (Wash. Ct. App. July 25, 2016). The opinion was ordered 

published when entered. 

4. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(l), this Court should grant review on the 

following issues: 

4.1 When there are allegations that the debtor has engaged in 
inequitable and unlawful conduct that has affected the receivership 
administration, is it proper to reward the debtor with a dismissal of 
the case to his benefit and at the expense of his creditors? 

4.2 When the receivership is solvent, there are properly filed creditor 
claims and the ability to pay those claims, is it error to direct the 
Receiver to close the case without paying creditors without the 
consent of the creditors? 

1 Petitioners Per and Melody Westerdal hereafter are referred to as "Per" or ''Per 
and Melody." 
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4.3 When creditors have, pursuant to a guaranty, paid claims of the 
principal, are they subrogated to the rights of the principal in a 
receivership? 

4.4 Did the Court of Appeals err when it interpreted RCW 7.60.21 0( 4) 
to require both the filing of a claim and its allowance when the 
statute requires only filing of a claim? 

5. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This appeal stems from the termination of a general receivership 

that was commenced on July 31, 2014 in King County Superior Court by 

Judge Schubert (CP 204-228) and dismissed by Judge Kessler on 

March 23, 2015. CP 908-909. The parties agreed to appointment of a 

receiver in a comprehensive Settlement Agreement that included pledging 

of collateral owned in part by Per and Melody who also executed a 

guaranty in Bero's favor. 

Resource Transition Consultants ("RTC") was appointed general 

receiver. ("Receivership Order"). CP 204-228 

The property that vested in the Receiver included "all of [Jay's) 

stock ownership, voting, membership and management rights in Name 

Intelligence and Westerdalcorp." CP 211, ~2.6. The Receiver's authority 

was bolstered by an injunction prohibiting Jay from "obstructing, delaying, 

or interfering with Receiver taking any action purporting to transfer, 

encumber or dispose of the Property or any portion of it." CP 215, ~2.25. 
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Property included the domain name "holiday.com" and a pre

receivership brokerage agreement with domain auction company Breathe 

Luxury to sell holiday.com at the "World Travel Market," an international 

trade show held annually for the travel industry and produced by Reed 

Expo. CP 289, '1[2.1. Prior to the appointment of the Receiver, Jay set the 

auction reserve price for holiday.com at $5.1 million. CP 290, '1[2.4. The 

auction was set to take place November 5, 2014. !d. 

The Receiver assumed the Breathe Luxury agreement. The sale 

would substantially benefit the Receivership estate, and rejection would 

result in damage because rejection constitutes a breach. See RCW 

7.60.130(2). The auction was to proceed as contracted. 

Jay had other plans. On November 3, 2014- two days before the 

scheduled auction- Jay sent a letter to Breathe Luxury and Reed Expo 

resulting in a cancellation of the auction at the World Travel Market. 

Jay's letter stated that Breathe Luxury would need to negotiate a 

new agreement with the Receiver, while simultaneously suggesting the 

futility of doing so: "I think I have satisfied what I think RTC is 

responsible for collecting and I don't think they would agree to a sale at 

this time." !d. 
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Jay concluded the letter with a demand that Breathe Luxury "cease 

all efforts to sell our domain name and to remove the domain as publicly 

listed for sale unless you have a valid agreement." He also threatened 

legal action. !d. The auction went forward in another venue, but the 

advertising was lost and the reserve was not met. 

The estate was damaged by Jay's actions. !d. It lost a unique 

opportunity to sell the holiday.com domain name and was subject to a 

damage claim by Breathe Luxury. Per and Melody also were harmed 

because they have an ownership interest in holiday. com that they wanted 

monetized. 

Jay paid off the Bero portion of the judgment with funds from an 

undisclosed source. Jay filed a disclosure under seal. Jay received in 

excess of $1 million as an advance for services he promised to furnish in 

the future. The declaration was signed by Jay. No one has ever been able 

to verify the veracity of Jay's statement that the source of the $1 million 

was for Jay's future services. No declaration by the source was ever filed. 

Per and Melody were (and remain) concerned that holiday.com was bound 

up in, or likely to be affected by, the transaction. 

Per and Melody subsequently moved the trial court for an order 

directing the Receiver to liquidate holiday. com. CP 591-92. Jay opposed 
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the motion (CP 766-788) and filed a motion to terminate the receivership. 

CP 597-613. 

A prior attempt to terminate was denied by Judge Schubert,' but 

this time, with a new judge, the Debtors' motion was granted. The trial 

court ordered that the Receivership be terminated notwithstanding: (a) a 

surplus of funds available for distribution; (b) serious and unaddressed 

misconduct by the Debtors and, potentially, the Debtors' conflicted 

counsel; (c) Per's subrogation rights; and (d) the presumptively valid claim 

filed by Per. CP 908-909. To the trial court, Per and Melody's rights 

would be sufficiently protected if they simply filed a separate lawsuit. !d. 

As directed, the Receiver moved to approve his final account, 

distribute remaining funds to the Debtor, and terminate the Receivership. 

At the same time, Per asked the trial court to reconsider its decision to 

terminate the Receivership. Accompanying the motion to reconsider was 

evidence obtained regarding a transfer ofholiday.com. CP 928-937. The 

trial court was unmoved and denied reconsideration. CP 986-987. 

Ill I 

2 Judge Schubert was rotated to the mental illness calendar and did not retain 
jurisdiction. 
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6. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

6.1 The Decision of the Court of Appeals is a question of first 
impression that presents substantial questions of public interest in 
how Receiverships should be administered and should be reviewed 
by the Supreme Court. 

To date, the Receivership statute has not been interpreted by any 

appellate court. The decision of the Court below presents troubling issues 

for trial courts trying to determine how the statute should be implemented. 

Washington receivership law, codified at RCW 7.60, provides for 

two different types of receiverships: general and custodial. A custodial 

receivership is limited; it is established for the purpose of taking control of 

a specific asset or group of assets. RCW 7.60.015. 

A general receivership places all assets of the debtor in the hands 

of the receiver and provides a manner to liquidate all the assets for 

payment of creditors. RCW 7.60.015. A critical distinction between 

general and custodial receiverships is that in a general receivership there is 

a claims process for other creditors of the debtor. RCW 7.60.210; RCW 

7.60.220. Creditors file claims to be paid by property administered by the 

receiver. 

In this case, RTC was appointed a general receiver pursuant to the 

express terms agreed to by Jay, Per, and Bero, and as ordered by the trial 
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court. CP 204-228. Following appointment, the Receiver mailed Notice of 

the Receivership to all known creditors at the addresses provided by Jay. 

The notice to Per and Melody was sent to an incorrect address 

while they were out of state. Nevertheless, upon learning of the Receiver-

ship, they contacted the Receiver and submitted a claim. Their claim was 

later amended when they retained counsel, Marc S. Stern. An Amended 

Proof of Claim was filed on December I 0, 2014. The amount of their 

claim was $1,613,417.13. 

6.2 The Court of Appeals erred when it approved the closing of the 
General Receivership without addressing creditor claims. It also 
erred when it imposed an additional step to determine whether a 
claim is "allowed." 

The plain language ofRCW 7.60.220(1) precludes termination of 

the Receivership. RCW 7.60.220(1) provides in pertinent part: 

Claims properly served upon the general receiver and not 
disallowed by the court are entitled to share in distributions 
from the estate in accordance with the priorities provided 
for by this chapter or otherwise by law. 

There was approximately $68,000 cash available to pay creditor 

claims when the trial court terminated the Receivership. This does not 

include unliquidated assets. Per and Melody's claim was properly served 

and was not disallowed by the trial court. Absent disallowance of their 

claim, they were "entitled to share in distribution from" the funds held by 
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the Receiver. 

The Court of Appeals' ruling, at p. 8, ignores the mandate ofRCW 

7.60.210(4). Per acquired a statutorily vested right in the funds held by the 

Receiver by filing a claim: 

( 4) A claim, executed and served in accordance with this 
section, constitutes prima facie evidence of the validity and 
amount of the claim. 

RCWA § 7.60.210 (West). 

That right could only be terminated by disallowance. The Court of 

Appeals ignored the statute and committed clear error when it imposed an 

additional step, allowance ofthe claim by the Receiver or the Court. 

Pursuant to the statute, and in actual practice, this never happens. Claims 

are deemed allowed when filed unless there is an objection and the 

objection is sustained. Here, the Receiver announced that he was allowing 

the claim and Jay filed an objection. That objection was never heard. The 

trial court punted, and the Court of Appeals grafted in a procedural step 

that is not present in the statute. 

6.3 The Court of Appeals erred when it authorized dismissal when 
there were allowed claims awaiting payment. 

The Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law by allowing 

termination of the Receivership in derogation of the mandatory terms of 
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RCW 7.60.220(1). Properly understood, RCW 7.60.220(1) imposes a 

limitation on the court's termination authority set forth in RCW 

7.60.290(5) when a general receivership is ordered, as was done in this 

case. This point is underscored by the mandatory language of RCW 

7.60.220(1) (allowed claims "are entitled to share in distributions") 

compared to the permissive language ofRCW 7.60.290(5) ("the court has 

the power" to terminate a receivership). The Court of Appeals completely 

ignored the requirements of RCW 7.60.220 when it ruled that the issue 

was discretionary and failed to define the term of discretion. 

Authority to dismiss a receivership conferred by RCW 7.60.290(5) 

is subject to statutory provisions regarding claims. Foremost among these 

is RCW 7.60.220(1), which states: "Claims properly served upon the 

general receiver and not disallowed by the court are entitled to share in 

distributions from the estate" in accordance with priorities set forth by 

statute, but not relevant here. (Emphasis added.) 

No objection to Per and Melody's claim was ever heard. The trial 

court ignored the legitimacy of Per and Melody's claim, as well as their 

statutory protection, and allowed all of the property of the estate to re-vest 

with Jay. The statutory language is not equivocal and it affords no 

discretion. It plainly requires the trial court to rule affirmatively that a 
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claim is disallowed; unless and until it does so, the claim is allowed and 

the claimant is entitled to share in estate distribution. 

Removing any doubt that might linger is the placement of the 

language requiring affirmative disallowance of claims, which immediately 

follows the subsection's language authorizing receivers and pa1ties in 

interest to object to claims. Structured as it is, RCW 7.60.220(1) permits 

objections, then requires that they be sustained. The first was present in the 

proceedings below; the latter was not. The trial court expressly stated: 

The court's March 27 order [terminating the Receivership] 
does not address the merits of any outstanding claims 
which may be pursued by separate causes of action. 

CP 987. Moreover, Respondents acknowledge that Per and Melody had a 

claim in the Receivership, which they admit having paid down while the 

Receivership was still pending. 

6.4 The Court of Appeals erred by failing to give effect to the 
subrogation of Per and Melody's payments to Bero. 

Per and Melody executed a guaranty as part of the global 

Settlement Agreement with Bero and Jay. They were parties to the 

Settlement Agreement, and the Settlement Agreement was the basis for the 

appointment of a general receiver. 
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When Jay defaulted on his obligations, including his alleged 

attempts to sell property collateralized by the Settlement Agreement 

without Bero's knowledge or consent, Per and Melody's liability was 

triggered. Per and Melody satisfied their guaranty obligation, giving rise 

to their right of subrogation, 

In Mahler v. Szucs,135 Wash. 2d 398,957 P.2d 632 (Wash 1998), 

the court discussed subrogation at some length and is worth repeating: 

[Subrogation] applies in cases involving multiple claims 
upon the same property, suretyship,joint debtors, parties to 
bills and notes, the administration of estates, and contracts 
of insurance. Subrogation is favored in Washington law. 
"Subrogation is always liberally allowed in the interests of 
justice and equity." J.D. O'Malley & Co. v. Lewis, 176 
Wash. 194, 201,28 P.2d 283 (1934). 

There are, in effect, two features to subrogation. The first 
is the right to reimbursement. The second is the mechanism 
for the enforcement of the right. The right to reimburse
ment may arise by operation of law, termed legal or 
equitable subrogation, or by contract, called conventional 
subrogation. Ross v. Jones, 174 Wash. 205,216,24 P.2d 
622 (1933). 

The more troublesome question is the precise enforcement 
mechanism for the subrogee's right of reimbursement. 
Considerable imprecision on this question is present in case 
law on subrogation. By virtue of payments made to a 
subrogor stemming from the actions of a third party, a 
subrogee has a right of reimbursement under general 
subrogation principles. That reimbursement may be 
enforced as a type of lien against any recovery the subrogor 
secures from the third party. Alternatively, the subrogee, 
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standing in the shoes of its subrogor, may pursue an action 
in the subrogor's name against the third party to enforce the 
reimbursement right. 

Mahler at 640 (rev 'don other grounds). See also, Columbia Community 

Bankv. Newman Park, LLC, 177 Wash. 2d 566,304 P.3d 472 (Wash. 

2013) (where third party pays debt, party is subrogated to lender's interest 

thus preventing windfall to debtor). 

As applied here, the only "troublesome question" is the one before 

this Court: Did the Court of Appeals err in approving the termination of 

the Receivership when claims had not been administered? 

Prior to termination, Per and Melody had the right to step into 

Bero' s shoes because they had claims in the Receivership estate to that 

portion of Jay's liability to Bero that they paid pursuant to the guaranty. 

The Order Appointing Receiver provides in part at ~2.52: 

This Receivership Order shall terminate only upon payment 
in full of all amounts due the Receiver and satisfaction in 
full of all amounts due under the Judgment, including any 
advances made by Plaintiff as provided for herein. 

As a creditor entitled to subrogation rights and a party, Per and 

Melody had standing to enforce the terms of the Order. Until they were 

paid, the provisions were unfulfilled, and their rights were ignored. 
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Bero, himself, may well have been satisfied, but because that satis-

faction depended in part on the contribution of Per and Melody, ~2.52's 

requirement that "all amounts due under the Judgment" be fully satisfied 

was not met. 

6.5 The Court of Appeals erred when it ignored the trial court's 
abdication of its responsibility to regulate the actions of parties 
involved in a case before it. 

Trial courts are conferred with expansive authority in Receiver-

ships and Assignments for the Benefit of Creditors by RCW 7 .60.055, 

which in part provides: 

Except as otherwise provided for by this chapter, the court 
in all cases has exclusive authority over the receiver, and 
the exclusive possession and right of control with respect to 
all real property and all tangible and intangible personal 
property with respect to which the receiver is appointed, 
wherever located, and the exclusive jurisdiction to 
determine all controversies relating to the collection, 
preservation, application, and distribution of all the 
property, and all claims against the receiver arising out of 
the exercise of the receiver's powers or the performance of 
the receiver's duties. However, the court does not have 
exclusive jurisdiction over actions in which a state agency 
is a party and in which a statute expressly vests jurisdiction 
or venue elsewhere. 

RCW 7.60.055(1). The authority provided by RCW 7.60.055(1) is recited 

verbatim in the Receivership Order. CP 210, ~2.2. 
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The Receivership property within the trial court's control included 

property in which Per and Melody have an ownership interest. Their claim 

is premised in part on Jay's interference with the Receiver's liquidation of 

assets and the consequent diminution of the value of the property partially 

owned by Per and Melody. 

The Receiver assumed the executory contract with Breathe Luxury 

for the sale of the domain name holiday.com at a previously scheduled 

auction. CP 289, ~2.2. Jay interfered with the sale. CP 304:8-9; CP 307. 

Jay threatened legal action against Breathe Luxury and Reed Expo, the 

producer of the show where the auction was to take place. !d. As a result, 

the auction had to be moved. The $5.1 million reserve price set by Jay 

was not met. CP 290, ~2.4. 

Jay's interference with the Receiver's administration is precisely 

why statutes such as RCW 7.60.055(1) are enacted. Rather than reverse 

the trial court for abusing its discretion, the Court of Appeals shrugged. 

Bero had been paid and Per and Melody could bring a separate lawsuit. 

"No harm- No Foul." However there was harm. 

Instead of a speedy distribution of funds on hand, Per and Melody 

are forced to commence a new lawsuit. The original lawsuit that started 
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this included Per and Melody. They were parties. They paid actual cash 

and had a claim in this proceeding. 

With authority comes responsibility. The trial court was 

responsible for the orderly administration of the Receivership. It abdicated 

that responsibility when it approved dismissal. Review is necessary 

because the Court of Appeals ignored the facts and did not articulate the 

standards for judicial administration of receiverships. 

6.6 Per and Melody were significantly damaged by the Court of 
Appeals' failure to specify the factors that must be considered by a 
trial court in its exercise of discretion. 

Collective proceedings,' of which a general receivership is one, are 

prosecuted for the benefit of unsecured creditors. When ranking priorities 

in such proceedings, debtors are last in line. If this case were an assign-

ment for the benefit of creditors- a close analogy given the Debtors' prior 

agreement to the general receivership- the Debtors' consent would be 

irrevocable. See RCW 7.08.030. Similarly, the Bankruptcy Code imposes 

an absolute priority rule on chapter 11 debtors, permitting them to take 

nothing if unsecured creditors are not paid in full. II U.S.C. § 1129(b)(l). 

3 "Collective proceedings" means proceedings which are brought by a class 
representative on behalf of persons whose claims raise common issues and which may be 
instituted as a group action or a representative action; Cap 520.fm- Europa Aug I, 2012. 
See, Sherwood Partners, Inc. v. Lycos, Inc., 394 F.3d 1198, 1208 (9th Cir. 2005) (D.W. 
NELSON Dissent). 
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Chapter 13 debtors may not voluntarily dismiss their cases if they 

acted in bad faith. Marrama v. Citizens Bank of Massachusetts, 549 U.S. 

365 (2007). Before dismissing a chapter 7 case at the Debtors' request, 

courts should require that no prejudice to creditors will result from the 

dismissal. See In re Hopper, 404 B.R. 302 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2009). 

Prejudice is found where dismissal results in the loss of assets 

available for distribution to creditors. I d., citing In re Harker, 181 B.R. 

326, 328 (Bankr. E.D. Tenn. 1995). 

The Court of Appeals turned this settled, foundational principal on 

its head, to Per and Melody's prejudice, when it failed to direct the trial 

court to determine whether or not prejudice would occur. The Court of 

Appeals stripped out of the receivership law the statutory provisions 

intended to benefit creditors. In finding this determination a matter of 

discretion, without setting forth the factors to be considered in determining 

whether that discretion was abused, the Court below created a vacuum. 

It is a legal determination of what elements must be considered in 

order to determine what discretion is. Blanchard v. Golden Age Brewing 

Co., 188 Wash. 396,63 P.2d 397 (1936). This is vastly different from 

determining whether discretion was abused. Here, the Court of Appeals 

stepped over well-settled precedent to simply determine the trial court had 
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not abused its discretion. Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals did not set 

forth the criteria for determining how discretion should be exercised. 

In rendering its decision, the Court considered only the wording of 

the statute. It then took a giant leap and found that the dismissal was 

proper because it was discretionary. It failed to articulate the factors and 

determine exactly what the court should consider before terminating a 

receivership. 

Review should be accepted so this Court can articulate the 

standards for the exercise of discretion in receivership proceedings. 

6.7 The decision of the Court of Appeals invites abuse. 

When Washington's receivership statute was revised more than ten 

years ago, the declared purpose of the revision was: 

... to create more comprehensive, streamlined, and cost
effective procedures applicable to proceedings in which 
property of a person is administered by the courts of this 
state for the benefit of creditors and other persons having an 
interest therein.4 

That intent was thwarted in this case, with the trial court's 

assistance. Per and Melody's interests, and the statutes that protected 

them, were of no consequence to the trial court. Neither was the evidence 

that Jay was continuing to dissipate assets to Per and Melody's detriment 

4 S.B. 6189-S Digest (2004). Appendix, p. I. 
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at the time the Receivership was terminated. In stark contrast, the 

Respondents took for themselves whatever benefit the Receivership 

offered without accepting the burdens, and the trial court rewarded their 

conduct by giving them the approximately $68,000 on hand when the 

Receivership terminated. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is an invitation to abuse. 

Resort to speculative hypotheticals is unnecessary because the facts of this 

case comprise a textbook scenario of a bad faith debtor putting the good 

offices of a court to unseemly purposes. Reversal of the Court of Appeals' 

decision upholding the order terminating the Receivership is required. 

7. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals erred when it cast aside the rights of Per and 

Melody Westerdal. It showed no regard for their ownership interest in 

Receivership property or documented evidence of Jay's interference with 

that ownership interest. 

The Court of Appeals further erred when it affirmed termination 

of the Receivership absent disallowance of filed claims in direct contra

diction of statutory mandate. 

If allowed to stand, the Court of Appeals' termination of the 

Receivership invites abuse. The Court expressed not one iota of concern 
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about what can only charitably be described as questionable behavior by 

Jay. 

This Court should grant review and ultimately reverse the Court of 

Appeals.