RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

No. 93530-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re: the Receivership of

NAME INTELLIGENCE, INC., a Washington corporation, and JAY WESTERDAL, an individual; WESTERDALCORP LLC, a Washington limited liability company.

Respondents,

Per and Melody Westerdal,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondents

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

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

The Court of Appeals followed plain and unambiguous statutory language under RCW ch. 7.60 in holding that a trial court has "the power" to terminate a receivership. RCW 7.60.290(5). In arguing that the Court should address a "question of first impression," (Pet. 7), the Westerdals concede that the decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's decision to terminate a receivership that had fulfilled its initial purpose does not present a matter of substantial public interest because it comports with established precedent holding that receivership is an extraordinary remedy that must be exercised with caution, and with the receivership statute RCW ch. 7.60, when read as a whole. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. The receivership statute grants the appointing court the discretion to terminate a receivership and does not grant an unsecured creditor a "vested right" to payment of a contested claim.

The Westerdals' assertion that "the plain language of RCW 7.60.220(1) precludes termination of the Receivership" (Pet. 8) reads one subsection of the receivership statute in isolation, ignores RCW 7.60.290 entirely, and disregards established precedent regarding the court's equitable authority to supervise receivers. The Court of Appeals properly held that the trial court had authority to terminate the receivership once its purpose had been fulfilled.

In interpreting a statute, the Court must consider "the enactment as a whole, harmonizing its provisions by reading them in context with related provisions." *Segura v. Cabrera*, 184 Wn.2d 587, 593, ¶ 14, 362 P.3d 1278 (2015); *Citizens Alliance for Prop. Rights Legal Fund v. San Juan County.*, 184 Wn.2d 428, 437, ¶ 14, 359 P.3d 753 (2015) (court must "consider the statute as a whole and provide such meaning to the term as is in harmony with other statutory provisions.") (quoting *Heinsma v. City of Vancouver*, 144 Wn.2d

556, 564, 29 P.3d 709 (2001)). The Court may not, as the Westerdals do here, read "a single sentence of a statute . . . in isolation." *Prince v. Savage*, 29 Wn. App. 201, 206, 627 P.2d 996, *rev. denied*, 96 Wn.2d 1002 (1981). The Court "must interpret the terms of a statute in harmony with its purpose." *Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Const. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 694, ¶ 23, 317 P.3d 987 (2014).

The Court of Appeals correctly looked to the statute as a whole in holding that the appointing court has the equitable discretion to terminate a receivership once its purpose has been fulfilled. The "plain language" of RCW 7.60.290 vests in the court "the power" to terminate the receivership on a party's motion:

Upon motion of any party in interest, or upon the court's own motion, the court has the power to discharge the receiver and terminate the court's administration of the property over which the receiver was appointed.

RCW 7.60.290(5). The court may discharge the receiver upon "completion of the receiver's duties with respect to estate property." RCW 7.60.290(1).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that this statutory grant of "power" in RCW 7.60.290(5) necessarily vests in the Court discretion to terminate a receivership. (Op. ¶ 12) Its decision comports with the court's discretionary authority to appoint a receiver in the first instance, RCW 7.60.025(1)(a), and its "exclusive authority" to supervise a receiver, who at all times acts under the Court's control. RCW 7.60.055. See Mony Life Ins. Co. v. Cissne Family, L.L.C., 135 Wn. App. 948, 952, ¶ 11, 148 P.3d 1065 (2006) ("The power to appoint a receiver is discretionary."); King County Dep't of Cmty. & Human Servs. v. Northwest Defenders Ass'n, 118 Wn. App. 117, 122, 75 P.3d 583 (2003); Brown v. Mead, 22 Wn.2d 60, 64, 154 P.2d 283 (1944). Indeed the Westerdals recognize that the "[t]rial courts are conferred with expansive authority in Receiverships." (Pet. 14)

The Court of Appeals properly recognized, as does the statute, that receivership is an extraordinary remedy (Op. ¶ 11), authorized only if "reasonably necessary and . . . other available remedies either are not available or are inadequate," and only upon certain specified grounds. RCW 7.60.025(1). *See Secord v. Wheeler Gold Min. Co.*, 53 Wash. 620, 625-26, 102 P. 654 (1909) (reversing appointment of receiver over solvent corporation). Because the power to take control of a person's assets entails a substantial limitation of personal liberty, "a receivership should be terminated as soon as practicable after its purposes have been accomplished." *Boothe v. Summit Coal Min.* Co., 63 Wash. 630, 634, 116 P. 269 (1911) (internal quotations omitted).

By stating that a properly served claim "not disallowed by the court" is "entitled" to distribution in RCW 7.60.220(1), the Legislature did not give unsecured creditors a vested right to distribution, as the Westerdals argue. The Westerdals read one sentence of that statute in isolation, ignoring the rest of RCW 7.60.220, which also gives "any party in interest" the right to file an objection to the claim, ³ requires mediation upon request of any party objecting to the claim, RCW 7.60.220(2),⁴ and allows but does not require, the receiver to provide an estimate of any unliquidated claim that could delay administration of the remainder of the receivership estate. RCW 7.60.220(3). They also ignore that only "[a]llowed claims in a general receivership shall receive distribution." RCW 7.60.230(1).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that a claimant's timely service of a claim is but the first step in resolving a contested claim. The Court of Appeals interpreted the receivership statute to give

 $^{^3}$ Jay contested timely service of the claim, and contested the claim on the merits. (CP 497-98)

⁴ Jay timely sought mediation after objecting to the claim. (CP 499)

effect to the statute as a whole, to further the Legislature's intent and this Court's precedent giving the superior court broad discretion over an extraordinary remedy. The Westerdals' contention that the trial court lacks authority to terminate a receivership over a solvent estate until disallowance of every unsecured and contested claim is without merit.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's exercise of discretion in terminating this receivership once its purpose had been fulfilled because the costs of the receivership far exceeded any benefit to the Westerdals in establishing their unsecured claim.

The Westerdals' argument in support of review constitutes a fact-bound challenge to the exercise of the trial court's broad discretion to terminate the receivership, presenting no issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court has long held that in supervising a receiver, the trial court acts in equity and its decisions are reviewed for manifest abuse of discretion. *Penn Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Fife*, 15 Wash. 605, 607, 47 P. 27 (1896).

The Order Appointing Receiver emphasizes the purpose of the receivership, stating that it "shall terminate only upon payment in full of all amounts due the Receiver and satisfaction in full of all amounts due under the [Bero] Judgment." (CP 220) The Westerdals do not dispute that the receivership had served its purpose, which was to protect Bero's secured interest in Jay's and Name Intelligence's property, RCW 7.60.025(1)(a), (b), and to give effect to Bero's judgment, RCW 7.60.025(1)(c). (CP 204-21) It is undisputed that Jay paid the Westerdals their subrogated claim in full and that the Westerdals acknowledged satisfaction of that obligation. (CP 816-17, 835) The Westerdals patently misrepresent the undisputed record by asserting that they were subrogated to Beros because they "satisfied their guaranty obligation," (Pet. 12) and that "their [subrogation] rights were ignored." (Pet. 13) *See* Op. ¶ 22 ("Per and Melody's claim to 25 percent ownership in holiday.com is completely separate from Jay's liability under the guaranty.").

The Westerdals also ignore that receivership is a *remedy* (an extraordinary one, at that), not a *punishment*, in arguing that the trial court countenanced "Jay's interference with the Receiver's administration" and "liquidation of assets." (Pet. 15) Their allegation similarly ignores the undisputed record: the trial court failed to make any finding supporting that allegation, and the receiver abandoned his allegations of contempt once Beros and the Westerdals were paid in full. (CP 967, 1192-94)

But even if the Westerdals' allegation concerning Jay's actions were ultimately found to be credible, their conclusory statement that "Per and Melody were significantly damaged" (Pet. 16) is meritless. Both during and after the receivership, the Westerdals would have to establish that they in fact owned 25% of holiday.com in order to recover anything. As their unsecured claim to a 25% interest in the domain name holiday.com had not been allowed, under RCW 7.60.230(1), Per and Melody had no vested right in the receivership or any of its property and had no independent basis under the statute to continue a receivership over a solvent estate in the absence of any evidence that Jay would impair the value of an intangible asset. *See* RCW 7.60.025(1)(a).

Per and Melody's contested claim to holiday.com gave them no "probable right to or interest in" that property – they had the burden of proving it. The Court of Appeals correctly relied on the fact that, as the receiver and the trial court acknowledged, the Westerdals' claim required discovery and a trial. (3/20 RP 28) Per and Melody agreed that, at a monthly fee of \$6,000 plus \$525 per hour for the receiver's counsel, the receiver was being paid "an awful lot if he isn't doing anything." (3/20 RP 33) The Court of Appeals could reasonably hold that the trial court was well within its discretion in finding that the unsecured and disputed claim of the Westerdals to an equity interest in holiday.com would not "be resolved quicker within the receivership than via separate cause or causes of action in light of the apparent complexity of the factual issues which the parties will need to flesh out through discovery." (CP 908-09)

E. Conclusion

The Court of Appeals decision presents no ground for review. The petition should be denied.